
As for the passenger locomotives in use at the start of
the LNER era, those conversant with the history of John
G. Robinson's engines will be aware that the years leading
up to Grouping had seen some major developments,
especially in the higher power ranges. For many years it
had been the Atlantics which had borne the brunt of the
GCR passenger services, and they had built up an
excellent reputation, being speedy, powerful by the
standards of the day, reliable, easy to work on and giving a
comfortable ride. Their only serious rivals, from 1913
onwards, were of course the Directors, which with the
advantage of superheating proved if anything even better.
Then as the constraints of wartime came to an end
Robinson set to work to change matters, so that by the
end of GCR ownership the best services were being
handled by Lord Faringdon 4-6-0s and the so-called Large
Directors.

Released from these duties, the Atlantics were
transferred onto less glamorous tasks, and so it was
that Woodford came to be among the beneficiaries
of these changes, with the first Atlantic, No.6088 as
it eventually became, arriving in July 1921, followed in
December by 5362 and 6084. So even in pre-Grouping
days an allocation of Atlantics was beginning to build
up, and their number may have reached as high as four
by the end of 1921, as No.5262 may have been sent
to Woodford during the period 1920-21, the record
in respect of this engine being incomplete. So far as
their reception is concerned, there can be little doubt
that the Woodford drivers would have been delighted
to receive these well-tried 4-4-2s, which even
without any precise information to draw on we may
be sure were soon put to work on the cross-country
services, since it was these which made up the
whole of the shed's fast-passenger work. The
reputation of the Atlantics would have been well
known to everyone at Woodford, as indeed would
have been true throughout the GCR Running
Department, and of course they were a considerable
advance on the 4-4-0s which had previously been used
on the fast trains.

Further examples were not long in arriving, with no
fewer than seven coming to Woodford during 1922.
Hence by the start of LNER ownership there was a total
of eleven Atlantics working from Woodford, and although
there were some changes as time went on the allocation
remained substantially the same for many years to come.
In fact, as will be told later, the 4-4-2s held pride of place at
Woodford until the late thirties, and there were still two
of them on hand even after the outbreak of war; one of
these, No.6084, had been continuously present from its
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Woodford (Northamptonshire) was located on the
southern section of what at the time of Grouping

Was probably the least-used portion of main line in the
country, namely the former GCR route south of Sheffield.
It was also the newest, having come into existence only 25
years or so before, and the passenger services with which
we are concerned here were still in the process of being
built up. Had the Great Central retained its independent
existence no doubt further efforts would have been made
to develop this traffic, as the more important expresses,
such as those plying between Marylebone and the north,
duplicated those of other companies, the latter having
long since become established in the pre-Grouping era.
The cross-country services, or west-to-north expresses
as they are often known, were somewhat different
inasmuch as they provided a useful link between the
territory of the GWR and Southern Railways, and the
more northerly parts of the LNER The best-known
example is the so-called Penzance-Aberdeen express,
which covered the entire distance between the western
extremity of the GWR system in Cornwall and the far
north of Scotland, though in reality it was only a small
portion of the actual train which went the whole way (see
below). There were also SR trains serving Southampton
and Bournemouth, these likewise working through to the
north-east. Hence with the onset of Grouping the LNER
found itself responsible for working what we might term
the middle and northern sections of this long and varied
route, and the former GCR portion of this extended from
the junction with the GWR at Banbury to Sheffield
Victoria, where the trains reversed. Woodford was the
shed in charge of most though by no means all of these
trains, making contact with the GWR by means of the
short connecting line to Banbury. This was a busy piece of
railway, and LNER engines, mostly from Woodford, could
be seen constantly coming and going at the latter, although
the line itself was entirely rural, possessing only two very
small stations at Eydon Road and Chalcombe Road.

Situated a short distance north of Culworth Junction,
which was the start of the line to Banbury, Woodford shed
was positioned in a decidedly rural area of the country, yet
there was a curious contrast about the place as although it
was surrounded on all sides by open countryside for as far
as the eye could see it was nevertheless an impressive
railway centre, incorporating wagon shops and a
marshalling yard of considerable size, while the shed itself
was amply laid out and hosted a substantial allocation of
locomotives. The express-passenger engines formed only
a small proportion of this, for the Banbury line was also
much used for transit of goods, and this traffic was to
grow steadily during the vintage years.

WOODFORD and the
CROSS-COUNTRY EXPRESSES
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"the first Atlantic.. .arriving in July 1921...." Pictured at Woodford on 9 August 1921, this Atlantic appears to be No. 1088. and is
seen in full GCR passenger livery with badges on the splashers. At left is a 'Pom-pom,1 a typical Woodford inhabitant. Photo W. Potter
4

II
gr^m^^t

the Atlantics were a considerable advance on the 4-4-0s...." No.6088, one of the first Atlantics sent to Woodford, passes Shawell
with a heavy Up train on 2 April 1929. Photo WLeslie Good



1.51 pm - times are taken from the Bradshaw timetable of
July 1922, and varied over the years - and with over two
hours allowed for turning and preparation the return
working left Sheffield Victoria at 4.17, this being the
corresponding Up train bound for Southampton. Arrival
at Banbury was at 7.19 and the engine was then released
to run back to Woodford. The turn was typical of
Woodford's workings, with light-engine running
constantly taking place in both directions between the
shed and Banbury, and usually tender-first. Turning
facilities were of course available at the nearby Banbury

best expresses if called on to do so, as well as coming fully
up to expectations on the fitted-goods jobs for which they
had been primarily designed; hence the foreman would
have no qualms about rostering one of these capable
engines for a fast-passenger duty if the regular Atlantic
was not available or the train was unusually heavy.
Woodford's allocation of these 4-6-0s arrived in two
separate batches, Nos. 5462\7\8 and 5469 making their
appearance during May and June of 1922, and a further
five following in January 1923, these numbered 5036\7\8,
5463 and 5464. The presence of these modern engines at

,...the4-4-2s held pride of place at Woodford until the late thirties...." No.5362 is at the head of a short train of GWR coaches,
photographed on 12 May 1927. The location of this view is uncertain, but is thought to be near Rugby. Photo W.Leslie Good

Coming now to the actual work done, Woodford's
share of the cross-country workings comprised four
principal diagrams, two taking the engine as far as Sheffield
and two on which the Woodford engine came off at
Leicester. The details appearing in the 1925 working
diagram book show the engine on the earliest turn leaving
the shed at 10.35am and going light-engine to Banbury,
arriving in time to take over from the GWR engine which
had brought in the morning Southampton-York express;
this train incorporated portions for further north, and was
altogether a typical west-to-north assortment. The
Atlantic worked through to Sheffield, arriving there at

Woodford gives an indication of the shed's importance in
the general scheme of things, and over the years to the
outbreak of war their number tended to rise slightly, with
no fewer than twelve stationed there in 1938.

arrival in December 1921, apart from a very short spell at
Neasdenin 1932.

They were not however in absolute sole charge of the
fast-train work, for on occasions - usually in the summer
season - loads could rise considerably, and the Running
Foremen would then prefer to use a more powerful
engine if one was available, the favourite choice being a B7
4-6-0, nominally if not actually the most powerful type on
the GC system. These were a very different proposition
from the Atlantics, for although they may not have
radiated quite the same glamour as the latter they were at
the start of LNER days brand-new, whereas of course the
4-4-2s had almost reached the veteran stage by this date.
Class B7 engines were still being delivered when the
LNER came into its inheritance, and in the last period of
GCR ownership those already allocated to Woodford
were the most modern engines based there. As a late
product of the Robinson stable they had naturally become
very popular, showing themselves capable of working the



9.20am, with the customary hour for notices and engine
preparation before setting off for Banbury, the trainmen
had already exceeded the normal eight-hour shift by a
considerable margin, hence the relief so as to cut down
the amount of overtime involved.

The later Sheffield-and-back job was similar to the
above, the train being a Bournemouth-York express. It
was timetabled to leave Banbury at 3.12pm, and was
unique among the Woodford turns in being taken over at
that point by an engine of an earlier diagram (see below)
which worked it as far as Woodford. Here the engine of
the main diagram took charge, leaving at 3.33 and after the
usual calls at Rugby, Leicester and Nottingham reached
Sheffield at 5.40. The two changes of engine in the space of
a few miles was obviously very unusual, but in this instance
it served as a means of avoiding the frequent light-engine
trip to Banbury, and of course had the effect of cutting
down the crew's time, enabling them to complete the
journey to Sheffield and back within the normal eight-hour
shift. At the Sheffield there was the customary wait of
almost two hours before departure on the return
working. This left Sheffield Victoria at 7.37, the train being
the Up Aberdeen-Penzance express already referred to
earlier. It brought the Woodford engine into Banbury at
10.2pm, where the GWR took charge whilst the former
ran lightto Woodford Loco.

Of the shorter diagrams, the first to leave involved the
usual light-engine journey to Banbury, whence the engine
departed at 12.44pm with the Swansea-Newcastle
express; this was part of what was known as the 'Ports to
Ports' service, which as well as serving Newcastle and

Loco, but it appears that the LNER callers rarely if ever
made use of these facilities; it is known that the working
relationship between the two companies was never of the
best, hence the engine-crews were happy to spend as
little time as possible at Banbury. So frequent was the
tender-first running that consideration was apparently
given at one stage to fitting the Woodford Atlantics with
improved sanding arrangements for reverse working, but
in the event this scheme was never proceeded with. The
only blessing was that the Banbury branch was relatively
short; also there were one or two occasions when it was
possible to diagram the engine for a run on the local
passenger service which operated between the latter and
Woodford, and there was also one diagram, shortly to be
described, on which the engine worked back to
Woodford, presumably tender-first, on one of the main
expresses.

At the Sheffield end full locomotive facilities, including
turning, were readily available only a short distance east of
the station at Bernard Road, and it was here that the
Woodford engine waited until it was time to run forward
and couple onto its train. As mentioned earlier, the west-
to-north trains had to reverse at Sheffield, leaving Victoria
the way they had come and then parting company with
the main Marylebone line at Woodburn Junction in order
to reach Tinsley, Mexborough and the NE Area. As for the
Up train, it arrived back at Woodford at 7pm, by which
time the main-line crew had come to the end of their shift;
a set of reliefmen took charge for the remainder of the run
to Banbury and subsequent light-engine journey back to
Woodford. In fact, having originally booked on duty at

"the Foreman would have no qualms about rostering one of these capable engines for a fast-passenger duty...." B7 5463 stands
at Woodford Loco in November 1933, with the coaling-stage behind. Photo W. Leslie Good.



"locomotive facilities were readily available...east of the station at Bernard Road..." In later condition with altered chimney.
No.6093 is in process of being turned at Sheffield. Photo RJ.Hughes.
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former was a fitted train, while the return job,
coincidentally, involved a goods working through from
Barry in South Wales to Newcastle. Unfortunately
observations of this working are non-existent, but it is
believed that one of Woodford's B7s was the usual choice,
probably in view of the return goods workings.

To complete the story of the north-to-west services,
Woodford's No.2 Diagram entailed a departure from
Banbury at 9.45, after the engine had, rather unusually,
worked a slow passenger train from Woodford which got
to Banbury at 9.35, the bare ten minutes allowed for
changing over making it very clear that, as always, the
engine had come tender-first from Woodford. The 9.45
was a Banbury-Leicester express, calling only at Rugby en
route and getting to Leicester at 10.50. Here there was a
wait of over two hours before the return journey, the
engine leaving at 1. 15pm on a Newcastle-Bournemouth
express which it brought back into Banbury at 2.17. It
departed thence at 3.12 in charge of the Bournemouth-
York train already mentioned earlier, which was handed
over at Woodford to the engine of the second Sheffield-
and-back working as described.

Slightly makeshift though some of these locomotive
arrangements may appear to be, they nevertheless
remained in force for some considerable time, with the
diagram book for the summer of 1930 showing only one
significant change, namely the disappearance of the
evening Penzance-Aberdeen turn, which at an unknown
date was transferred to a Doncaster engine and men,
forming the return working of a late-evening fish train

various ports in South Wales also included a coach for
Hull, which was detached at Sheffield. The Woodford
diagram was somewhat different from those just
described, as the engine had already spent most of the
morning working a stopping-train service to Leicester and
back, after which it returned to Woodford shed to be
remanned for the afternoon job. The 'Ports to Ports'
express was taken as far as Leicester, where it arrived at
1.38pm after the usual stop at Rugby. The turn-round
time at Leicester was comparatively short, less than an
hour, during which the engine had to go to Leicester shed
to be turned, and departure was at 2.28. The return train
was the companion Down 'Ports to Ports,' bound for
South Wales having left Newcastle at 9.30am. Arrival at
Banbury was at 3.30pm and the Woodford engine then
departed for the shed in the usual way.

The second of the short diagrams entailed a departure
from Woodford at 6.40pm, with the engine reaching
Banbury in time to take over the Penzance-Aberdeen
express, which left at 7.42. Advertised in the timetables as
including sleeping-cars, this express contained only a
small portion for Aberdeen, usually only one coach, this
vehicle being the only one to cover the entire distance
between the two points, as briefly mentioned earlier. The
Woodford engine was detached at Leicester, and with
about three-quarters of an hour allowed for turning made
the return journey on a goods train bound for the GWR
which left at 9.20pm; this reached Banbury at I 1.45, and
the engine then switched to another goods train which it
was booked to bring back into Woodford at 1. 15am. The



various destinations, followed by C4 6094 hauling a train
consisting of a mixture of SR and GWR coaches, probably
the York-Southampton express, which was at Leicester at
about the same time as the Bournemouth-York. The
appearance of SR and GWR stock was of course a daily
occurrence on the cross-country trains, running opposite
rakes of LNER stock, the sets interchanging on alternate
days.

On 6 July B7 5481 was seen coming into Leicester on
the 6.55pm from Woodford, which was a stopping train
calling at all stations in between, and on this occasion
loaded to I 10 tons - not exactly a test for a B7, but no
doubt the powerful 4-6-0 had been rostered with the
return working in mind, which was a fitted goods to
Banbury; this train has been described before as leaving
Leicester at 9.20, but by this date it had been retimed to
leave ten minutes later. No.548l was one of the later
additions to Woodford's allocation, having arrived there in
January 1928, replacing No.5467 of the original batch. It
was also a newer engine, having gone into traffic at the
close of 1923, and carried the much shorter chimney
which was always a distinguishing feature of this final batch
of the Class. On this diagram the Woodford crew were
finally able to book off duty at about 1.30 in the morning, a
good example of the unsocial hours which was the lot of
footplatemen everywhere. However by this date the
working, having originally been a daily assignment, was
now restricted to Mondays Only, with Doncaster engines
and men being in charge for the rest of the week. In the
days prior to this change, the diagram had started off with
the Woodford engine working the Penzance-Aberdeen
express to Leicester, as described earlier, but this
arrangement had now been discontinued, and another
Woodford engine was diagrammed for the Aberdeen
train.

Another Leicester sighting of this period was of C4
5362, which was noted leaving Central station with the
Aberdeen-Penzance express on Thursday 9 July. The load
on this occasion amounted to 225 tons, worked of course
from Sheffield following the outward trip with the
Bournemouth-York train.

Only a very few notes are to hand for 1932, but these
show the same pattern in operation. At Easter - probably
26 March which was the day before Easter Sunday - C4
6093 was seen on the Bournemouth-York train, hauling a
very substantial load of 420 tons, this no doubt a result of
the increased traffic over the holiday weekend. No
passing time is given, but of course this would have been a
very hefty train for an Atlantic to work all the way to
Sheffield. On 2 June the Down Bournemouth-York train
was photographed at Bagthorpe Junction, north of
Nottingham, by Mr T.G. Hepburn with C4 6085 at the
head. This was a popular location for photographs, where
the engines could be seen working hard to climb the
gradient after the stop at Nottingham Victoria. On
Tuesday 9 August Mr Hepburn returned to the same spot
with his camera and took a picture of No.5262 going in the

from Decoy Yard. This job has become much associated in
LNER folklore with the Class B17 engines, but in 1930
these had not yet found their way to Doncaster, so the
most likely choice of engine at this early period would be a
K3 2-6-0, or possibly a K2, though it is understood that
Ivatt Atlantics were sometimes used on this job. It is hoped
to deal with this interesting lodging turn in a future Issue of
Vintage LNER.

Observations of engines on the cross-country trains
are not plentiful, though with so few changes in the
workings we can glean a fairly clear picture of how things
were done at Woodford. The earliest notes are from the
year 1928, when a passenger on the Newcastle-Swansea
express saw Atlantic No.6085 relieve D9 5105, aSheffield
engine, at Leicester on Friday 27 April, the train due to
depart at 2.28pm. The same observer was on the GC
Section again the year after, noting G4 6091 heading the
Bournemouth-York train from Banbury to Leicester on
Friday 15 March. The same engine was recorded on
Saturday 29 June, this time working through to Sheffield
on the express from Southampton. Yet another visit on 16
June 1931, a Thursday, proved to be the occasion of a
change in the workings, as on that day the Southampton-
York-Newcastle express was worked from Banbury by
D9 5105, a Sheffield engine already mentioned in these
notes; as is usually the case, we cannot say why the regular
engine was not in evidence, but it was not usual to see
Sheffield engines working cross-country trains this far
south. Things were apparently running normally again on
Tuesday 14 July, as C4 5194 was noted in charge of the Up
Southampton express, this Atlantic now in its ninth year as
a Woodford engine.

Notes from a different source relating to the year 1931
are of additional interest in including loadings, though
some of the information is somewhat vague on account of
lack of detail. An observer who was at Leicester on 29
May, a Friday, noted No.5194 arriving at 10.50 on the
9.45am express from Banbury with a load estimated at
160 tons. As described earlier, this was part of the diagram
which included the York-Bournemouth express on the
Leicester-Banbury section, hence if traffic was running
normally the Alantic would return south by this means,
and come back to Woodford with the Down
Bournemouth-York express. Thus the Atlantic rostered
for this turn would be partially involved in the cross
country traffic, and in addition it was scheduled to cover
the 8.45am Marylebone-Manchester express during the
wait at Leicester, this train arriving there at I lam; the
margin of time, ten minutes only, was rather tight for an
emergency change of engines, but the GCR staff and their
successors had always been noted for their smart work in
such situations.

On Wednesday 13 May there were two observations
of Woodford engines at Leicester. No.6088 arrived at the
head of eight coaches, the train described as a
Bournemouth-Leeds express but probably the usual
Bournemouth-York train, which carried portions for

8



"....these locomotive arrangements remained in force for some considerable time..." Waiting at Leicester Central for its return
working back to Woodford is No.6094. occupying the centre road as was the usual practice; the single lamp will be noted. The engine
is in midMate-thirties condition, as evidenced by the chimney, and just visible in the background is what appears to be 5004

Glenalmond, approaching on a train from the Nottingham direction.
9
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".. ..there was a total of eleven Atlantics working from Woodford" In typical 1920s condition, No.6091 is pictured with a heavy Up
express at Shawell in August 1926. Photo JA.G.H.Coltas.

opposite direction with the Newcastle-Southampton Bournemouth-York, evidently deputising for a Woodford
express, this of course being the return leg of the same Atlantic as the engine was stationed at Leicester, possibly
turn.On2SJune,aSaturday,C45l92wasinchargeofthe  on loan as at this period Leicester Loco was the main



"This stately 4-6-0...had been stationed at Woodford for a number of years" Photographed in February 1932, No.5196 is at
Woodford Loco. Like the Atlantics, these 4-6-0s carried the large LNER plain chimney seen here for roughly ten years from 1925

onwards, until they were finally replaced by the curved variety seen in the previous view. Photo W.Leslie Good
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By the mid-thirties it must have become apparent to
anyone interested that the long-serving Atlantics were
getting towards the end of their days as main-line
locomotives, and with rumours of a new batch of BI7
engines beginning to circulate those in the know doubtless
had the feeling that it would not be long before at least
some of them found their way to the GC Section. This
anticipated change in power began to come into effect at
Woodford in the early months of 1937, the first transfer

It is unfortunate that notes of B7s actually working on
the cross-country services have failed to survive, but an
interesting observation took place on Saturday 15 June
1935 when the Bournemouth-York express arrived at
Sheffield Victoria behind 5196. This stately 4-6-0,
regarded as ancient by this date and one of only two
engines in the Class, had been stationed at Woodford for a
good number of years together with its companion
locomotive, and despite their very large-diameter driving-
wheels they appear to have done very little work on
express-passenger trains, probably because the capable
Atlantics were much preferred; they appear to have spent
most of their time on goods and fish trains. So it was
something of a surprise when 5196 turned up at Sheffield
that day, in charge of what was after all one of Woodford's
harder jobs, and we can only presume either that the
regular Atlantic had developed a fault, or pressures of
traffic had left the Running Foreman with no other option.

headquarters for GC Atlantics, and would no doubt be
able to cover for absences at Woodford when need arose.
It was assisted on this day by D9 5105, a Sheffield engine
making its third appearance in these notes. On the same
day C4 6088 also went through with the Newcastle-
Southampton express, made up of the usual mixture of
GCR and SR carriage stock. These trains were divided
after leaving the LNER, probably at Oxford, with the
Southern coaches continuing to Bournemouth and
Southampton, where connections were advertised for
the Channel steamers.

The summer-season increases in loading can be
deduced from a note dated Saturday 5 August 1933, wen
the Newcastle-Southamtpon train was made up to a total
of 472 tons, an immense load for the GC line with its
frequent gradients; hardly surprisingly, C4 6088 had the
services of an assistant engine in the shape of D3 4345, a
former GNR 4-4-0 now allocated to Leicester. This
engine had been transferred there from Doncaster only
the day before, and thus found itself in the thick of the
action almost from the moment of its arrival. The only
other notes for that year were made during late
December, No.5261 being seen on the 29'fc in charge of
the Bournemouth-York train, in company with Ivatt
Atlantic 4416 of Sheffield, the train made up entirely of
Southern stock and presumably heavy, although no detail
is given. The Woodford engine was observed returning on
the Aberdeen-Penzance express, noted at Nottingham at
8.32pm.



"This anticipated change in power began to come into effect at Woodford in....1937..." 2850 Grimsby Town, one of the trio of
Footballers working out of Woodford in the late thirties, is calling at Rugby with an Up express. Photo T.G.Hepburn

of them going to the GE Section, and the impact of this
state of affairs was particularly sudden at Woodford, when
all three B17s were switched to Sheffield during July and
early August. They were never popular, and the general
impression of their work on the GC Section as a whole is
that they were never fully up to the demands imposed by
the gradients, usually having difficulty with loads in excess
of nine coaches. Perhaps the most eloquent comment on
their disappointing showing is that their replacements
were once again GC engines, this time Class B3 4-6-0s
previously working at Immingham. In this unexpected
series of transfers Woodford received 6164 Earl Beatty,
6165 Valour and 6169 Lord Faringdon. They were a
somewhat ill-assorted trio, Earl Beatty having just recently
been rebuilt with Caprotti valve-gear while the other two
retained the original piston-valves, and Valour had a side-
window cab whereas the others had the traditional GCR
cut-out sides. They have never been considered among
the best of Robinson's designs, but they were no doubt
preferred to the B17s, and we can be sure that the men
were a lot happier. How much of this was due to prejudice
is a matter about which readers are left to decide for
themselves. The wheel had turned full circle, and we can
only consider this reversion to GC types as very surprising
in view of the late date, when most pre-Grouping engines
were being replaced by more modern engines on main
lines everywhere. It is notable also that there were two of
the long-serving Atlantics still hanging on at Woodford,
and these found some occasional use on the fast-
passenger work.

being in mid-February when 2866 Nottingham Forest
arrived on the scene. By this date the new B17s had
been working from Leicester and Neasden for some
months, and first impressions had not been good; they
were said to give a very rough ride at speed, so much
so that the firemen often found themselves throwing
coal onto the footplate floor instead of into the fire,
and even at lower speeds when shovelling was easier
the firebox was found to be notoriously tricky after
the straightforward sloping grate that was a feature of
the Atlantics. Perhaps these criticisms help to explain
the somewhat uncertain allocation pattern which can
be detected in Class BI7 records for the period,
Woodford being no exception. Nottingham Forest
lasted barely three months, being sent to Neasden in
May and replaced by the last of the pre-Footballer
series, 2847 Helmingham Hall. Another Footballer, 2867
Bradford, appeared during April but was moved on in
record time, being transferred to Leicester ten days
later. Its place was taken 2850 Grimsby Town, and
shortly afterwards 2855 Middlesbrough was transferred
in from Leicester. This flurry of transfers hardly
suggests that the new engines had made much of an
impression in Northamptonshire, although things
apparently settled down somewhat after the arrival
of Middlesbrough on I May, and the three B17s now
based at Woodford remained for a continuous
period which was to last until the early summer of 1939.

As the 1930s drew to a close the BI7s were being
transferred away from the GC Section in numbers, most



"....here...the Woodford engine waited...." B17 He/minghom Hall is seen between turns at Sheffield. Photo RJ.Hughes

Sheffield-and-back jobs. Then on Saturday 3 July the same
engine was photographed at Charwelton, a few miles
north of Woodford, heading the York-Bournemouth train,
after which it returned at 4.5pm, somewhat behind
schedule, with the Southampton-York, which if traffic was
running normally (not necessarily the case on a busy

Notes for this twilight period of working are not
abundant, but suffice to give us a rough idea of how the
B17s and their successors were utilised. On Thursday 27
May, just over three months after its arrival at Woodford,
Middlesbrough was observed on a Down express between
Leicester and Nottingham, evidently on one of the shed's

"... .the three B17s remained... until the early summer of 1939." Grimsby Town is caught again by the camera, this time near Braunston
& Willoughby on an Up express made up of SR stock.



The service was free of accidents during the period
covered here, and the only untoward incident that has
come to light, reported in the LNER Magazine of
November 1929, took place on Saturday 21 September,
when the driver of the Newcastle-Bournemouth express
was suddenly taken ill in the vicinity of Shawell, between
Lutterworth and Rugby. The locomotive in charge is not
known, but on the footplate that day were Driver JW.
Lambert and Fireman R. Tungate, both of Woodford.
Shortly after passing Shawell signalbox Driver Lambert
collapsed and the fireman, showing great presence of
mind, made him as comfortable as possible on the
footplate and then took charge of the engine, bringing it to
a stop in the normal way at Rugby; its speed at the time of
his colleague's collapse was estimated as between 60 and
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made up of SR stock, and finally on 13 May 1939 Grimsby
Town was seen at Nottingham Victoria on the same duty,
this being a Saturday.

With the change of motive power during July the B17
turns were now taken over by the newly-arrived Lord
Faringdon B3s, as evidenced on Tuesday 25 July when or/
Beatty was noted calling at Rugby on the Newcastle-
Swansea train at 2.55pm. This engine had arrived at
Woodford only the day before, so clearly the Running
Foreman wasted no time in putting the new arrival to
work, and presumably much was expected of it because
of the Caprotti gear, claimed to be a big improvement
over the original and now going into revenue-earning
traffic for the first time, although a similarly-fitted engine,
No.6167, was in service at Immingham. The newcomer

"at Charwelton on the Newcastle-Swansea express..." The GWR stock is very evident in this view of Helmingham Hail and its
train as it nears the end of its return journey on 3 July 1937. In the background can be seen Charwelton station, with the bridge

carrying the Banbury-Daventry road. Photo L.Hanson.

would undoubtedly have attracted plenty of attention
among the staff at rural Woodford, and one wonders how
the crew felt about things as they set off on this quite
auspicious trip They are likely to have been accompanied
by an Inspector, as there were some differences in the
controls - when No.6167 was being run in at Gorton the
men were supervised by no less a person than Mr
Kuretscha, who was a senior figure in the Caprotti
Company. During the next few weeks Lord Faringdon and
Valour were also noted on this working, and as though to
emphasise the reversion to GC haulage Atlantic No.6085
was likewise seen at Nottingham Victoria on Wednesday
16 August.

summer Saturday) it would have taken through to
Sheffield. On the same day Helmingham Hall was
photographed, also at Charwelton, on the Newcastle-
Swansea express, due in Banbury at 3.30, the train passing
at 3.23. On another busy Saturday, 21 August,
Helmingham Hall was observed again at Sheffield Victoria,
taking over the Aberdeen-Penzance train, due away at
7.37pm; there had evidently been some kind of problem
on the preceding section as the express was brought in by
a curious pair, D9 51 10 King George V assisted by N4 5614,
both Sheffield-based engines.

Come the next year, and on 20 April Middlesbrough
was at work on the Bournemouth-Newcastle express



"....the appearance of....SR stock was a daily occurrence on the cross-country trains..." In late-thirties condition, Atlantic 6085 is
seen in charge of a typical train, photographed at an unknown location.
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70mph. The latter was rushed to hospital immediately on   recorded as  cerebral  haemorrhage. The Coroner
arrival, but sadly died on the way, the cause of death being  commended Fireman Bob Tungate for his timely actions.

"....the Running Foreman wasted no time in putting the new arrival to work..." Earl Beatty, now fitted with Caprotti valve^gear, is
pictured at Nottingham Victoria on what is described as the 10.5am Oxford-Newcastle express in August 1939. Photo by Eric Neve.


